
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTH ERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.
18 U.S.C. j 1343
18 U.S.C. j 982(a)(2)(A)

UM TED STATES OF AM ERICA

VS.

SHEANA HASLEM ,

Defendant.
/

INFORM ATION

The United States Attorney charges that:

GENER AL ALLEGATIONS

At a11 tim es m aterial to this Information:

The Urlited States Small Business Administration (&GSBA'') was an agency of the

executive branch of the Government of the United States. The mission of the SBA was to maintain

and strengthen the nation's economy by enabling the establishment and viability of small

businesses and by assisting in the economic recovery of com munities afler disasters.

The Pavcheck Protection Prozram

2. The Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CGCARES'') Act was a federal

1aw enacted in or around M arch 2020 and designed to provide em ergency financial assistance to

the millions of Americans who were suffering the econom ic effects caused by the COV1D-19

pahdemic. One source of relief provided by the CARES Act was the authorization of forgivable
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loans to small businesses for job retention, including the payment of payroll and çertain other

permissible expenses, through a progrnm referred to as the Paycheck Protection Program (GTPP'').

3. In order to obtain a PPP loan, a qualifying business, including a sole proprietorship,

submitted a PPP loan application, wlzich was signed by an authorized representative of the

business. The PPP loan application required the business (through its authorized representative)

to acknowledge the program rules and make certain affirmative certifications in order to be eligible

to obtain the PPP loan. ln the PPP Borrower Application Form (SBA Form 2483), the small

business (through its authorized representative) was required to provide, among other things, its:

(a) average monthly payroll; and (b) nlzmber of employees.The information on the application

and the supporting documentation submitted therewith were used to calculate the am otmt of m oney

the applicant was entitied to receive under the PPP.

4. A PPP loan application was processed by a participating lender. If a PPP loan

application was approved, the participating lender fllnded the PPP loan using its own m orlies.

W hile it was the participating lender that issued the PPP loan, the loan was 100% guaranteed by

the SBA. Data from the application, including infonuation about the borrower, the total nmotmt

of the loan, and the listed number of employees, was transmitted by the lender to the SBA in the

cotlrse of processing the loan.

Economic Iniua  Disaster Loans

The CARES Act also authorized and provided ftmding to the SBA to provide

Economic Injury Disaster Loans (E%1DLs'') to eligible small businesses experiencing szbstantial
!

financial disnzptions due to the COVID-19 pandemic to allow them to meet financial öbligations

and operating expenses that could have been m et had the disaster not occurred. These COV1D-19
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EIDLS included the possibility of atl advance of up to $10,000 for qualifying applicants. The

applicant was not obligated to repay this advance.

In order to obtain a COVID-19 EIDL, a qualifying for-profit business was required

to submit an EIDL application to the SBA and provide information about its operations, including

its gross revenues and number of employees, for the lz-month period preceding January 3 1, 2020.

The applicant also was required to certify under penalty of perjury that a11 the information in the

application was true and correct.

EIDL applications were subznitted directly to and processed by the SBA. The

amount of the loan approved and any advance provided was determined based, in part, on the

information provided in the application concerning the number of employees and cost of goods

sold. Any EIDL f'unds were issued directly by the United States governm ent to the applicant's

bnnk accotmt.

The D-çfendant and the Relem nj Epjitie.

Defendant SHEANA HASLEM  was a resident of M iami-Dade County, Florida,

who was employed by the City of M iami Police Department as a Police Stafting Specialist.

The Financial Teclmology Company provided small business funding throughout the

United States. It operated an online platform that received PPP loan applications, and it did the

vetting and tinal review of those applications, including the PPP application submitted by

STTEANA HASLEM . The Financial Technology Company's servers were located outside the

state of Florida.

10. The Lender was a wholly owned subsidiary of the Financial Technology Company,

alld served as the funding nrm of the Financial Technology Company for PPP loans, inclpding the
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PPP loan obtained by SHEANA RASLEM . The Lender was an SBA-approved lender for PPP

loans, and its servers were located outside the state of Florida.

The Bank was a bank that did business throughout the United States, including

maintaining branches in the Southem District of Florida.

12. Individual 1 was a resident of M inm i-Dade County, Florida.

COUNT 1
W ire Fraud

(18 U.S.C. j 1343)

12 of the General Allegations section of tllis lnformation areParagraphs 1 through

re-alleged and incoporated by reference as through ftzlly set fol'th herein.

2. From in or arotmd July 2020, and continuing through in or around M arch 2021, in

M imni-Dade Cotmty, in the Southem District of Florida, and elsewhere, the defendant,

SHEANA H ASLEM ,

did knowingly, and with the intent to defraud, devise, and intend to devise, a scheme and atlifice

to defraud, and to obtain money and property by means of materially false and fraudulent

pretenses, representations, and promises, knowing that the pretenses, representations, and

promises were false and fraudulent when made, and, for the ptupose of executing the scheme and

artitke, did knowingly transmit and cause to be transmitted, by means of wire communipation in

interstate and foreign commerce, certain m itings, signs, signals, pictures and sotmds, in violation

of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343.

PURPOSE OF TH E SCHEM E AND ARTIFICE

3. The pup ose of the schem e and artitice was for SHEANA HASLEM  to unlawfully

emich herself by submitting false and gaudulent PPP and EIDL applications to fraudulently obtain
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loan proceeds for her own use and benefit.

THE SCHEM E AND ARTIFACE

The m anner and m eans by which SHEANA H ASLEM  sought to accomplish the purpose

of the scheme and artifice included, among others, the following;

4. SHEANA HASLEM  submitted, and with the assistance of lndividual 1 caused to

be submitted, to the SBA, via interstate wire commtmications, a false and fraudulent EIDL

application claiming to be all independent contractor and the 100% owner of a hair and nail salon

business operating under the name lçsheana Haslem .'' That EIDL application falsely certified that

for the 12 month period prior to January 31, 2020, HASLEM 'S business had gross revenues of

$89,993 and 15 employees.

As a result of this false and fraudulent EIDL application, SHEANA HASLEM

obtained from the SBA a $10,000 EIDL advance. This fraudulently obtained EIDL advance was

provided via Electronic Flmds Trarlsfer to HASLEM 'S accolmt at the Bank. This Electronic Flmds

Transfer involved the use of interstate wire communications.

SHEANA HASLEM  submitted, and with the assistance of Individual 1 caused to

be submitted, to the Financial Technology Company, via interstate wire commlmications, a false

and fraudulent PPP loan application (SBA Fonn 2483) claiming to be an independent contractor

operating a business under the name of çtsheana Haslem .'' That PPP loan application falsely and

fraudulently represented the business' average monthly payroll, alzd as pal't of the application

process, HASLEM  submitted a false and fraudulent 1RS Form 1040, Schedule C, for tax year

2019. On the Folnn 2483, H ASLEM  falsely represented that her business' average monthly

payroll was $8,333. On the 2019 Schedule C, HASLEM  stated that her business was ttsecurity
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Officer.'' That âaudulent Schedule C falsely claimed that HASLEM 'S business had a gross

income of $102,874, no expenses, and a net profit of $102,874.

As a result of tllis false and fraudulent application, SHEANA HASLEM  obtained

approximately $20,832 in PPP loan proceeds from the Lender that were electronically deposited

by the Lender into H ASLEM 'S account at the Balzk.

interstate wire com munications.

This electronic deposit was m ade via

U SE OF W IRES

8. On or about the date specified below, in the Southel.n District of Florida, and

elsewhere, SH EANA HASLEM , for the purpose of executing and in furtherance of the aforesaid

scheme and artifice to defraud, and to obtain money and property by means of materially false and

fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises, lcnowing that the pretenses, representations,

and promises were false and fraudulent when made, did knowingly transmit and cause to be

transmitted in interstate and foreign commerce, by means of wire commllnication, certain writings,

signs, signals, pictures, and sounds, as described below :

cotv  AP/ROXIMATS osjcm pvlox ovw'm 'c
DAT:

1 February 27, 2021 Electronic submission of a PPP loan application
containing false information about the 'àverage
monthly payroll of the independent contractor
b iness using the nam e of ttsheana H'aslem ,

''
us

causing a wire transm ission f'rom the Southern
District of Florida to outside of the state of
Florida

ln violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1343 and 2.
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FORFEITURE ALLEGATIONS

The allegations of this Infonnation are hereby re-alleged and by this reference fully1.

incoporated herein for the pupose of alleging forfeiture to the United States of America of certain

property in which the defendant, SHEANA HASLEM , has an interest.

2. Upon conviction of a violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343, as

alleged in this lnform ation, the defendant, SHEANA H ASLEM , shall forfeit to the United States

any property constituting, or derived from, proceeds obtained, directly or indirectly, as a result of

such violation, ptlrsuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(a)(2)(A).

A1l pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(a)(2)(A), and the procedlzres set

forth in Title 21, United States Code, Section 853, as incorporated by Title 18, United States Code,

Section 982(b)(1).

8 .
M  NZY LAPOINTE
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

1)EDWARD N
. STAM M

A SSISTANT UNITED STATES ATTORNEY
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTH ERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

UNITED STATES OF AM ERICA

V.

SHEANA HASLEM ,

CASE NO.:

CERTIFICATE OF TRTAT, ATTORNEY

Superseding Case lnformation:
New Defendantts) (Yes or No)
Number of New Defendants
Total number of counts

Court Division (select one)
ES M iami E:I Key W est L FTP
E-J FTL D W PB

l do hereby certify that:
1. 1 have carefully considered the allegations of the indictment, the number of defendants, the number of probable

witnesses and the lejal complexities of the lndictment/lnformation attached hereto.
2. 1 am aware that the lnformation supglied on this statement will be relied upon by the Judges of this Cotu't in setting

their calendars and scheduling crimlnal trials under the mandate of the Speedy Trial Act, Title 28 U.S.C. j3161 .

Interpreter: (Ares or èlo) lqo
List language and/or dialect:

0 days for the parties to tl'y
.This case will take

5. Please check appropriate category and type of offense listed below:
(Check only one) (Check only one)
I E& 0 to 5 days IZI Petty
11 E1 6 to 10 days I'Z' ' Minor
III IZI 11 to 20 days IZI Misdemeanor
IV E71' 21 to 60 days EI Felony
V D 61 days and over

Has this case been previously filed in this District Court? (Yes or No) NO
lf yes, Judge Case No.
Has a complaint been filed in this matter? (Yes or No) No
lf yes, M agistrate Case No.

8. Does this case relate to a previously filed matter in this District Court? (Yes or No) No
lf yes, Judge Case No.

9. Defendantts) in federal custody as of
10. Defendantts) in state custody as of
11. Rule 20 from the District of
12. Is this a potential death penalty case? (Yes or No) N0
13. Does this case originate from a matter pending in the Northern Region of the U.S. Attorney's Office

prior to August 8, 2014 (Mag. Judge Shaniek Maynard? (Yes or No) No
14. Does this case originate from a matter pending in the Central Region of the U.S. Atlorney's Office

prior to October 3, 2019 (Mag. Judge Jared Strauss? (Yes or No) No
15. Did this matter involve the participation of or consultation with now M agistrate Judge Eduardo 1. Sanchez

during his tenure at the U.S. Attorney's Office, which concluded on January 22, 2023? NO

j
ll '

By:
Edward N . Stamm
Assistant United States Attorney

FL Bar No. 373826
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PENALTY SHEET

Defendant's Nam e: SHEAN A HASLEM

Case No:

Cotmt #: 1.

W ire Fraud

18 U.S.C. $ 1343
* M ax. Term of Im prisonm ent: 20 years im prisonm ent
* M andatory M in. Term of Imprisonment (if applicable): N/A
* M ax. Superviseti Release: 3 years
* M ax. Fine: $250,000
* Special Assessment: $100

Count #:

* M ax. Term of Im prisonm ent:
* M andatory M in. Term of Imprisonment (if applicable):
* M ax. Supervised Release:
* M ax. Fine:
* Special Assessm ent:

Cotmt #:

* M ax. Term of Im prisonm ent:
* M andatory M in. Term of Imprisonment (if applicable):
* M ax. Supervised Release:
* M ax. Fine:

'kRefers only to possible term of incarceration, supervised release and fines. It does not include
restitution, special assessments, parole terms, or forfeitures that may be applicable.
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AO 455 (Rev. 01/09) Waiver of an Indictment

UNITED STATES D ISTRICT COIJRT
for the

Southem District of Florida

United States of America
V.

SHEANA HASLEM,

)
) Case No.
)
)
)

W AW ER OF AN INDICTM ENT

1 understand that 1 have been accused of one or more offenses punishable by imprisonment for more than one
year. I was advised in open coul't of my rights and the nature of the proposed charges against me.

After receiving this advice, I waive my right to prosecution by indictment and consent to prosecution by
information.

De#ndant 's J/pw/lfre

Signature ofde#ndant 's attoryy
I

Bradley Horenstein, Esq.
Printed name ofdefendant 's attorney

Judge 's signature

Judge 's printed name and title
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